A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Seattle knife ordinance that appellant was convicted of 

violating is unconstitutional under the Second Amendment of the United 

States Constitution and article I, section 24 of the Washington 

Constitution. 

Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

Whether appellant's conviction for violating SMC 12A.14.080(B) 

must be reversed because that ordinance, which prohibits calTying any 

"dangerous knife" without regard to whether such knife is carried for the 

purpose of self-defense, violates the constitutional right to bear arms under 

the Second Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, 

section 24 ofthe Washington Constitution? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Seattle police officer Michael Conners was on patrol when he saw 

a car driven by Wayne Evans at 23rd Avenue and East Union Street. 1RP' 

116-17, 120. After following the car for a few blocks, Officer Conners 

stopped Evans for speeding. IRP 120, 128-29. He claimed concern for 

his safety because he smelled marijuana and noticed furtive movements by 

Evans and his passenger. 1RP 126-27, 129-30. The officer directed 

, The verbatim report of proceeding is referenced as follows: 1RP -
9/15/1 0 and 911611 0; 2RP - 7/29/11 and 9/23111. 
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" 

Evans to exit the vehicle and asked ifhe had any weapons. 1RP 131, 136-

37. Evans said he had a knife in his pocket. 1RP 137. The officer 

recovered a fixed-blade "kitchen" knife in a plastic sheath. 1RP 137-38. 

Evans was arrested. 1RP 138. The officer later asked Evans why he 

carried the knife. 1 RP 147. Evans said he carried the knife for protection 

"because he got jumped ... out in the Central District." 1RP 147. 

The City of Seattle charged Evans in Seattle Municipal Court with 

the "unlawful use of weapons by knowingly carrying a dangerous knife on 

hislher person, or knowingly carrying any deadly weapon other than a 

firearm concealed on his/her person," in violation of SMC 12A.14.080(B). 

CP 88. 

SMC 12A.l4.080(B) provides "It is unlawful for a person 

knowingly to: .. . Carry concealed or unconcealed on his or her person 

any dangerous knife, or carry concealed on his or her person any deadly 

weapon other than a firearm [ .]" 

The ordinance defines "dangerous knife" as "any fixed-blade knife 

and any other knife having a blade more than three and one-half inches (3 

1/2") in length." SMC 12A.14.010(C). "Fixed-blade knife" means "any 

knife, regardless of blade length, with a blade which is permanently open 

and does not fold, retract or slide into the handle of the knife, and includes 

any dagger, sword, bayonet, bolo knife, hatchet, axe, straight-edged razor, 
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or razor blade not in a package, dispenser or shaving appliance." SMC 

12A.14.010(D). 

SMC 12A.14.100 sets forth several exceptions to the prohibition: 

The proscriptions of Section 12A.14.080 B relating 
to dangerous knives shall not apply to: 

A. A licensed hunter or licensed fisherman actively 
engaged in hunting and fishing activity including education 
and travel related thereto; or 

B. Any person immediately engaged in an activity 
related to a lawful occupation which commonly requires 
the use of such knife, provided such knife is carried 
unconcealed; provided further that a dangerous knife 
carried openly in a sheath suspended from the waist of the 
person is not concealed within the meaning of this 
subsection; 

C. Any person carrying such knife in a secure 
wrapper or in a tool box while traveling from the place of 
purchase, from or to a place of repair, or from or to such 
person's home or place of business, or in moving from one 
(1) place of abode or business to another, or while in such 
person's place of abode or fixed place of business. 

The municipal cOUli rejected Evans's argument that the ordinance 

violated the constitutional right to bear arms. 1RP 98. The case 

proceeded to trial, where the jury was instructed that it needed to find 

Evans "calTied a dangerous knife on his or her person" in order to convict. 

CP 81. A jury convicted Evans for the crime of "Unlawful Use of 

Weapons as charged." CP 71. 
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The superior court affirmed on appeal. CP 55-56; 2RP 36-38. 

This Court granted Evans's motion for discretionary review on whether the 

ordinance violates the constitutional right to bear arms. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE SEATTLE ORDINANCE PROHIBITING CITIZENS 
FROM CARRYING KNIVES FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
SELF-DEFENSE VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL 
RIGHT TO BEAR ARMS. 

The heart of the constitutional right to bear arms is the ability of 

citizens to use weapons for the lawful purpose of self-protection. The 

need for self-defense arises outside the home just as often as it does inside 

the home. The Seattle ordinance forbidding citizens to carry fixed-blade 

knives for self-defense in public violates the right to bears arms under the 

federal and state constitutions. It criminalizes constitutionally protected 

behavior. Evans's conviction for violating the ordinance must therefore be 

reversed.2 

a. Standard of Review 

The constitutionality of an ordinance is an issue of law reviewed 

de novo. Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue, 132 Wn.2d 103, 114,937 P.2d 

154; 943 P.2d 1358 (1997). The paliy challenging an ordinance must 

2 Undersigned counsel would like to acknowledge the contribution of 
Joshua Kellemen (Associated Counsel for the Accused) for ideas and 
secondary authority incorporated into this brief. 
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demonstrate it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. City of 

Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 177,795 P.2d 693 (1990). This 

standard is satisfied where the reviewing court is convinced the ordinance 

is unconstitutional after a "searching legal analysis." School Districts' 

Alliance for Adequate Funding of Special Educ. v. State, 170 Wn.2d 599, 

605,244 P.3d 1 (2010). 

b. The Right To Bear Arms Includes The Right To 
Bear Knives In Self-Defense Under The Federal 
Constitution. 

The Second Amendment provides "a well regulated Militia, being 

necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and 

bear Arms, shall not be infringed." The United States Supreme Court 

recently addressed the right to bear arms in District of Columbia v. Heller, 

554 U.S. 570, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 171 L. Ed. 2d 637 (2008). 

Heller held the District of Columbia's ban on handgun possession 

III the home violates the Second Amendment, as does its prohibition 

against rendering any lawful firearm in the home operable for the purpose 

of immediate self-defense. Heller, 554 U.S. at 635. Heller involved guns, 

not knives, but Heller's broad definition of what constitutes "arms" under 

the Second Amendment shows knives likewise qualify as arms. 

The definition of "arms" was the same in the 18th century as today. 

Id. at 581. Colonial-era dictionaries defined the term as "weapons of 
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offense, or armour of defense" as well as "any thing that a man wears for 

his defence, or takes into his hands, or useth in wrath to cast at or strike 

another." Id. Just as the First Amendment protects modem forms of 

communications and the Fourth Amendment applies to modem forms of 

search, "the Second Amendment extends, prima facie, to all instruments 

that constitute bearable arms, even those that were not in existence at the 

time of the founding." Id. at 5 82 (emphasis added). 

To "keep" arms means to have or possess a weapon. Id. at 582-83. 

To "bear" arms means to CatTY a weapon for the particular purpose of 

confrontation. Id. at 584. To "bear arms" thus means to "wear, bear, or 

carry . . . upon the person or in the clothing or in a pocket, for the 

purpose ... of being armed and ready for offensive or defensive action in 

a case of conflict with another person." Id. (quoting Muscarello v. United 

States, 524 U.S. 125, 143, 118 S. Ct. 1911, 141 L. Ed. 2d 111 (1998) 

(Ginsburg, J, dissenting)) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

"[T]he conception of the militia at the time of the Second 

Amendment's ratification was the body of all citizens capable of military 

service, who would bring the sorts of lawful weapons that they possessed 

at home to militia duty." Heller, 554 U.S. at 627 (emphasis added). The 

right to bear arms, however, "did not refer only to carrying a weapon in an 
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organized military unit" but also included doing so as part "of the natural 

right of defense." Id. at 585. 

The term "arms" thus includes "weapons that were not specifically 

designed for military use and were not employed in a military capacity." 

Id. at 581. The sorts of weapons protected under the Second Amendment 

were those "in common use at the time." Id. at 627 (quoting United States 

v. Miller, 307 U.S. 174, 179,59 S. Ct. 816, 83 L. Ed. 1206 (1939)). 

The Court's expansive definition of "arms" comfortably covers 

knives, including the fixed-blade knives addressed in the Seattle 

dangerous knife ordinance. The knife is an instrument constituting a 

bearable arm. With its pointed tip and cutting edge, it is a weapon capable 

of being used for offensive and defensive purposes in times of 

confrontation. The fixed-blade knife in particular has a long history of 

being employed for both military and non-military purposes, including the 

lawful purpose of self-protection. 

"During the American colonial era every colonist had a knife. As 

long as a man was required to defend his life, to obtain or produce his own 

food or to fashion articles from raw materials, a knife was a constant 

necessity." State v. Delgado, 298 Or. 395,401,692 P.2d 610 (Or. 1984) 

(holding ban on possessing or carrying switch-blade knife violated Article 

I, section 27 of the Oregon Constitution) (citing Harold L. Peterson, Arms 
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and Armour in Colonial America, 1526-1783 (1956); Harold L. Peterson, 

American Knives (1958); Harold L. Peterson, Daggers and Fighting 

Knives ofthe Western World (1968)). 

In the course of explaining its conception of "arms," the Court in 

Heller quoted the Oregon Supreme Court's decision in State v. Kessler: "In 

the colonial and revolutionary war era, [small arms] weapons used by 

militiamen and weapons used in defense of person and home were one and 

the same." Heller, 554 U.S. at 624-25 (quoting State v. Kessler, 289 Or. 

359,368,614 P.2d 94 (Or. 1980) (citing George C. Neumann, Swords and 

Blades of the American Revolution 6-15, 252-254 (1973)). The Oregon 

Supreme Court recognized "A colonist usually had only one gun which 

was used for hunting, protection, and militia duty, plus a hatchet, sword, 

and knife." Kessler, 289 Or. at 368 (emphasis added). The term "arms" 

was not limited to firearms, but included several hand carried weapons 

commonly used for defense, including knives. Id. (citing Neumann, 

Swords and Blades of the American Revolution at 6-15,252-254; Warren 

Moore, Weapons ofthe American Revolution 8 (1967)). 

The kinds of knives employed in self-defense in the 18th and 19th 

centuries came in a variety of designs, many of which would qualify as 

fixed-blade knives under the Seattle ordinance. One such knife was a 

"dirk," which was a "large all-purpose knife equally useful for meals or 
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battle." Peterson, American Knives at 19. Frontiersmen carried fixed

blade knives as well: "On the frontier, ... there was almost constant 

danger of Indian raids. Hunting and trapping and primitive conditions 

made a large knife a constant necessity. Often standard carving or 

kitchen knives were fitted with a sheath, butmany homemade knives were 

also produced." Id. at 21 (emphasis added). 

Another kind of fixed-blade knife, the "bowie knife," became 

widely used in the 19th century. Id. at 32, 56. Although popular with the 

lawless element prevalent in frontier areas, law-abiding citizens in those 

same areas needed the knife for protection. Id. at 29. The bowie knife's 

popularity declined after the Civil War, but cowboys and buffalo hunters 

continued to carry it. Id. at 56. 

Bowie knives were by no means the only kinds of knives carried in 

the American West. Id. at 63. "The trappers and traders, the mountain 

men, who explored the Rockies and braved the Sioux and Blackfoot in 

search of beaver," used simple butcher or carving knives (including 

"Green River" knives) before and after the bowie knife was invented. Id. 

at 63-65. Such knives were among "the most popular knives in the 

winning of the West." Id. at 70. 

As noted above,the sorts of weapons protected under the Second 

Amendment are commonly used weapons, in contrast with the historical 
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tradition of prohibiting the carrying of "dangerous and unusual weapons." 

Heller, 554 U.S. at 627. The Second Amendment thus excludes weapons 

that were not typically possessed by law-abiding citizens for lawful 

purposes, such as short-barreled shotguns. Id. at 625. 

As shown above, fixed-blade knives were typically possessed by 

law-abiding citizens for lawful purposes in the 18th and 19th centuries and 

continue to be so used today. Recent FBI statistics show knives are the 

second most common type of weapon used in justifiable homicides by a 

private citizen, behind handguns but ahead of rifles, shotguns, and other 

weapons.3 

Moreover, knives are less dangerous than guns. "[G]uns are about 

five times more deadly than knives, given that an attack with some kind of 

weapon has occun·ed." United States v. Skoien, 614 F.3d 638, 642 (7th 

Cir. 2010) (citing Franklin E. Zimring, Firearms, Violence, and the 

Potential Impact of Firearms Control, 32 J.L. Med. & Ethics 34 (2004)). 

Consistent with common sense, an overwhelming array of studies show 

firearms are used much more often in the commission of violent crime and 

that firearms cause much more damage when actually used on a person. 

See David B. Kopel et aI., Knives and the Second Amendment 32-34, 

3 http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/201l/crime-in-the
u.s.-20l1ltables/expanded-homicide-data-table-15 (accessed 4/22/13). 
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Univ. of Mich. J.L. Reform (forthcoming) (collecting studies), at 

http://ssm.com/abstract=2238223. Yet guns qualify as arms under the 

Second Amendment. Heller, 554 U.S. at 628-29. Knives are not unusual 

weapons and they are less dangerous than guns. Knives must be also 

protected arms under the Second Amendment. 

c. The Right To Bear Arms Includes The Right To Bear 
Knives In Self-Defense Under The Washington 
Constitution. 

Before Heller, the Washington Supreme Court addressed a 

constitutional challenge to SMC 12A.14.080(B) in City of Seattle v. 

Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996). Four justices m 

Montana concluded the ordinance was constitutional and opined in dicta 

that the "ordinary knives" at issue there did not qualify as "arms" under 

article I, section 24 of the Washington Constitution in the absence of a 

Gunwa1l 4 analysis. Id. at 590-91 (Talmadge, J., lead opinion). Five 

justices in two separate opinions concUlTed in the result on the basis that 

the knives in question were not "arms" for the purposes of aliicle I, section 

24. Id. at 599-601. (Alexander, J. concurring, Durham, C.J., concurring). 

4 State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808 (1986) (setting forth 
six nonexclusive neutral criteria to consider in determining whether our 
state constitutional provision should be considered independently to afford 
greater protection than its federal counterpart). 
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The expansive definition of "arms" set forth in Heller renders the 

narrow concept of arms in Montana obsolete. United States Supreme 

C0U11 precedent interpreting the Second Amendment establishes the 

minimum protection of the right. State v. Sieyes, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 

225 P.3d 995 (2010). The definition of what constitutes a bearable arm 

under the Second Amendment must therefore, at minimum, be read into 

article I, section' 24. 

The lead opinion in Montana believed "[o]nly '[i]nstruments made 

on purpose to fight with are called arms,'" and opined in dicta that 

"ordinary culinary utensils or fishing knives" do not qualify. Montana, 

129 Wn.2d at 591 (quoting State v. Nelson, 38 La. Ann. 942, 946, 58 Am. 

Rep. 202 (La. 1886)). By that logic, a hunting rifle would not qualify as 

an arm because it was made for the purpose of hunting, not fighting. 

Heller precludes that limited way of thinking about arms.5 

Justice Alexander's concurring opinion in Montana drew an even 

finer distinction between certain kinds of fixed-blade knives (bowie 

5 See, ~, Heller, 554 U.S. at 590 ("Quaker frontiersmen were forbidden 
to use arms to defend their families, even though '[i]n such circumstances 
the temptation to seize a hunting rifle or knife in self-defense . . . must 
sometimes have been almost overwhelming. ") (quoting Peter Brock, 
Pacifism in the United States (1968); id. at 599 ("The prefatory clause 
does not suggest that preserving the militia was the only reason Americans 
valued the ancient right; most undoubtedly thought it even more important 
for self-defense and hunting. "). 
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knives) that qualified as "arms" and other fixed-blade knives that in his 

view did not qualify (small paring knife and filleting knife). Montana, 129 

Wn.2d at 601 and n.2. 

That kind of arbitrary line drawing does not survive Heller. Heller 

makes clear that the class of arms constitutes the sorts of instruments that 

were commonly used for self-defense. Heller, 554 U.S. at 581-84, 627. 

Arms are not limited to a particular design of an instrument. See id. at 582 

("the Second Amendment extends, prima facie, to all instruments that 

constitute bearable arms") (emphasis added). The Second Amendment 

broadly guarantees "the individual right to possess and carry weapons in 

case of confrontation." Heller, 554 U.S. at 592. Evans chose a fixed

blade "kitchen" knife to use in self-defense. That kind of knife is 

convenient, readily available and an effective weapon in case of 

confrontation. A distinction that exalts form over function does not make 

sense. If a fixed-blade knife is capable of cutting flesh, it is capable of 

being used for the purpose of self-protection during confrontation, whether 

it be a knife purposely made for fighting or an ordinary kitchen knife. 

Heller recognizes "arms" encompass all weapons in common use 

that were used for the purpose of confrontation. Heller, 554 U.S. at 581-

84, 627. Ordinary fixed-blade knives served multiple purposes, one of 

which was the particular purpose of fighting and defending oneself in the 
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case of confrontation. Peterson, American Knives at 19,21, 29, 32, 56, 

63-65, 70. That the same knife was used for multiple purposes instead of 

the exclusive purpose of fighting does not make that instrument any less of 

an "arm." A person could gut a fish or gut a weapon-wielding attacker in 

self-defense using the same knife. This makes perfect sense, given the 

rugged existence of those on the frontier and the reality of limited means 

necessitating an efficient use of finite resources. 

On the frontier, standard carving or kitchen knives, for example, 

were used for a variety of purposes, including defense from Indian raids. 

Id. at 21. Such experiences were not limited to the 18th century. Major 

conflicts between settlers and Indians occUlTed as late as the 1850's inside 

the Washington Territory. Dorothy O. Johansen & Charles M. Gates, 

Empire of the Columbia 246-58 (2d ed. 1957). The Washington Territory 

was largely frontier land throughout much of the 19th century. As of 1860, 

the Washington Territory only had a popUlation of 11,594, a large 

proportion of which came from areas that had just emerged from the 

frontier. Robert W. Johannsen, The Frontier, the Union, And Stephen A. 

Douglas 33 (1989). It was not until the 1880's, shortly before Washington 

achieved statehood, that rapid urbanization took place, marking a 

transition from wild frontier to cities. Johansen & Gates, Empire of the 
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Columbia at 3; Robert F. Utter & Hugh D. Spitzer, Washington State 

Constitution 13 (2011). 

Neither should we lose sight of the historical fact that Article I, 

section 24 of the Washington Constitution derives from the right to bear 

arms provision in the Oregon Constitution. Utter & Spitzer, Washington 

State Constitution at 12, 45. Hand-carried weapons such as knives are 

considered "arms" under the Oregon Constitution. Delgado, 298 Or. at 

401-03; Kessler, 289 Or. at 368. The history of using a variety of fixed-

blade knives as weapons of confrontation and defense during the 18th and 

19th centuries supports that conclusion. Peterson, American Knives at 19, 

21, 29, 32, 56, 63-65, 70. The Oregon Supreme Court's description of 

what constitutes an arm comports with the Heller analysis and reinforces 

the conclusion that knives are "arms" under the Washington Constitution . 

. d. The Second Amendment Right To Bear Arms 
Exists Beyond The Home Because The Need For 
Self-Defense Is As At Least As Pressing Outside 
The Home As It Is Inside. 

The central issue in the present case is whether the right to bear 

arms for the purpose of self-defense exists beyond the four walls of the

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