No. 67816-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

VS.

WAYNE EVANS,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY

Richard Greene Assistant City Attorney WSBA #13496

Attorneys for Respondent

Seattle City Attorney Criminal Division P.O. Box 94667 Seattle, Washington 98124 telephone: (206) 684-8538

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

D. ARGUMENT

Defendant has not established that Seattle's ordinance prohibiting carrying a concealed fixed-blade knife is unconstitutional.

Defendant contends that the prohibition on carrying a concealed fixed-blade knife violates his right to bear arms for self-defense under both the federal¹ and state constitutions.² As he does not assert any 1st Amendment freedom, the court should consider only whether the ordinance is unconstitutional as applied to the facts of the case.³ A legislative enactment, including a municipal ordinance, is presumed to be constitutional, and the party challenging

¹ The 2nd Amendment provides:

A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed.

² Article 1, section 24 of the Washington Constitution provides:

The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men.

³ State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 599, 781 P.2d 1308, 789 P.2d 306 (1989); In the Matter of the Dependency of C.B., 79 Wn. App. 686, 689, 904 P.2d 1171 (1995), review denied, 128 Wn.2d 1023 (1986); Seattle v. Yeager, 67 Wn. App. 41, 44, 834 P.2d 73 (1992), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1027 (1993).

it has the burden of proving its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt.⁴

[T]he "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard used when a statute is challenged as unconstitutional refers to the fact that one challenging a statute must, by argument and research, convince the court that there is no reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution. The reason for this high standard is based on our respect for the legislative branch of government as a co-equal branch of government, which, like the court, is sworn to uphold the constitution. We assume the Legislature considered the constitutionality of its enactments and afford some deference to that judgment. Additionally, the Legislature speaks for the people and we are hesitant to strike a duly enacted statute unless fully convinced, after a searching legal analysis, that the statute violates the constitution.5

Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 12A.14.080(B) states that "[i]t is unlawful for a person knowingly to . . . carry concealed or unconcealed on his or her person any dangerous knife." A dangerous knife is defined as "any fixed-blade knife and any other knife having a blade more than three and one-half inches (3 ½") in

⁴ Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 589, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996); State v. Spencer, 75 Wn. App. 118, 121, 876 P.2d 939 (1994), review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1015 (1995).

⁵ Island County v. State, 135 Wn.2d 141, 147, 955 P.2d 377 (1998).

length."⁶ The ordinance contains several exemptions for recreational, work-related and personal uses of a dangerous knife.⁷

1. <u>Defendant has not established that Seattle's ordinance</u> violates the 2nd Amendment.

Defendant contends that the 2ndAmendment grants him the right to carry a concealed fixed-blade knife in public. Cases from the early days of the nation rejected such a notion.⁸ As the court in *Louisiana v. Smith*⁹ noted:

⁶ SMC 12A.14.010(A) & (B).

⁷ SMC 12A.14.100 provides:

The proscriptions of Section 12A.14.080B relating to dangerous knives shall not apply to:

A. A licensed hunter or licensed fisherman actively engaged in hunting and fishing activity including education and travel related thereto; or

B. Any person immediately engaged in an activity related to a lawful occupation which commonly requires the use of such knife, provided such knife is carried unconcealed; provided further that a dangerous knife carried openly in a sheath suspended from the waist of the person is not concealed within the meaning of this subsection;

C. Any person carrying such knife in a secure wrapper or in a tool box while traveling from the place of purchase, from or to a place of repair, or from or to such person's home or place of business, or in moving from one (1) place of abode or business to another, or while in such person's place of abode or fixed place of business.

⁸ See Arkansas v. Buzzard, 4 Ark. 18 (1842) (holding that statute prohibiting the wearing of any pistol, dirk, butcher or large knife, or a sword in a cane, concealed as a weapon, unless upon a journey, does not violate 2nd Amendment); Nunn v. Georgia, 1 Ga. 243 (1846) (upholding constitutionality of statute prohibiting bowie-knives, dirks, spears from being sold, or secretly kept about the person); Louisiana v. Jumel, 13

[The 2nd Amendment] was never intended to prevent the individual States from adopting such measures of police as might be necessary, in order to protect the orderly and well disposed citizens from the treacherous use of weapons not even designed for any purpose of public defence, and used most frequently by evildisposed men who seek an advantage over their antagonists, in the disturbances and breaches of the peace which they are prone to provoke.

The Supreme Court has stated, admittedly in dicta, that the 2nd Amendment "is not infringed by laws prohibiting the carrying of concealed weapons."10

Defendant insists, however, that the Supreme Court's recent decisions in District of Columbia v. Heller 11 and McDonald v.

La. Ann. 399 (1858) (statute prohibiting carrying concealed weapon does not violate 2nd Amendment); see also Alabama v. Reid, 1 Ala. 612 (1840) (holding that statute prohibiting carrying a concealed knife does not violate constitutional provision that "Every citizen has the right to bear arms in defence of himself and the State."); Andrews v. Tennessee, 50 Tenn. 165 (1871) (prohibition on carrying a dirk, swordcane or Spanish stiletto does not violate constitutional provision "That the citizens of this State have a right to keep and bear arms for their common defense."): Fife v. Arkansas, 31 Ark. 455 (1876) (holding that statute prohibiting carrying any pistol of any kind whatever, or any dirk, butcher or Bowie knife, or sword or spear in a cane, brass or metal knucks, or razor, as a weapon does not violate constitutional provision that "The citizens of this State shall have the right to keep and bear arms for their common defense.").

 ¹¹ La.Ann. 633 (1856).
 Robertson v. Baldwin, 165 U.S. 275, 282, 17 S.Ct. 326, 41 L.Ed. 715 (1897).

¹¹ 554 U.S. 570, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637 (2008).

Chicago¹² change everything – a paradigm shift, as it were. In Heller, the Court addressed weapons laws that "totally ban[ned] handgun possession in the home" and "require[d] that any lawful firearm in the home be disassembled or bound by a trigger lock at all times, rendering it inoperable."¹³ The Court observed that "[f]ew laws in the history of our Nation have come close to the severe restriction of the District's handgun ban."¹⁴ The Court held:

[T]he District's ban on handgun possession in the home violates the Second Amendment, as does its prohibition against rendering any lawful firearm in the home operable for the purpose of immediate self-defense. Assuming that Heller is not disqualified from the exercise of Second Amendment rights, the District must permit him to register his handgun and must issue him a license to carry it in the home. 15

The court noted that the right secured by the Second

Amendment, like most rights, is not unlimited, and its decision did

not cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of

weapons by certain persons or the carrying of weapons in certain

¹² ___ U.S. ___, 130 S. Ct. 3020, 177 L.Ed.2d 894 (2010) (plurality opinion).

¹³ Heller, 128 S. Ct. at 2817.

¹⁴ Heller, 128 S. Ct. at 2818.

¹⁵ Heller, 128 S. Ct. at 2821-22 (emphasis added).

places.¹⁶ The limited nature of the *Heller* decision was reiterated in *McDonald*, which involved a suit by "Chicago residents who would like to keep handguns in their homes for self-defense, but are prohibited from doing so by Chicago's firearms laws."¹⁷ The court stated that the central holding in *Heller* was that "the Second Amendment protects a personal right to keep and bear arms for lawful purposes, *most notably for self-defense within the home*."¹⁸ In *McDonald*, ¹⁹ the court held that the Second Amendment right recognized in *Heller* applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment so as to invalidate this total ban on the possession of handguns. But again, the court in *McDonald*²⁰ noted:

It is important to keep in mind that *Heller*, while striking down a law that prohibited the possession of handguns in the home, recognized that the right to keep and bear arms is not "a right to keep and carry any weapon whatsoever in any manner whatsoever and for whatever purpose."

¹⁶ Heller, 128 S. Ct. at 2816-17.

¹⁷ McDonald, 130 S. Ct. at 3026.

¹⁸ McDonald, 130 S. Ct. at 3044 (emphasis added).

¹⁹ 130 S. Ct. at 3050.

²⁰ 130 S. Ct. at 3047 (citation omitted).

Seattle's ordinance does not violate the right to bear arms under *Heller* and *McDonald* as it does not restrict the use of a fixed-blade knife in the home for the purpose of self defense. The ordinance expressly provides that it "shall not apply to . . . any person carrying such knife . . . in such person's place of abode." Unlike the restrictions in *Heller*, Seattle's ordinance does not forbid *possession* of knives at all and does not forbid the use of a knife in the home. The ordinance is a valid restraint under the Second Amendment because it does not infringe on defendant's right to use a knife in his home for self defense.

Treating the home as special and subject to limited state regulation is not unique to firearm regulation; it permeates individual rights jurisprudence. For instance, in *Stanley v. Georgia*, the Court held that in-home possession of obscene materials could not be criminalized, even as it assumed that public display of obscenity was unprotected. While "the States retain broad power to regulate obscenity [] that power simply does not extend to mere possession by the individual in the privacy of his own home." Similarly, in *Lawrence v. Texas*, the Court emphasized that the state's efforts to regulate private sexual conduct between consenting adults is especially suspect when it intrudes into the home: "Liberty protects the person from unwarranted government intrusions into a dwelling or other private

²¹ SMC 12A.14.100(C).

places. In our tradition the State is not omnipresent in the home."

But while the state's ability to regulate firearms is circumscribed in the home, "outside the home, firearm rights have always been more limited, because public safety interests often outweigh individual interests in self-defense." There is a longstanding tradition of states regulating firearm possession and use in public because of the dangers posed to public safety. ²²

Neither *Heller* nor *McDonald* determined a particular standard for evaluating a Second Amendment challenge. The courts considering this question almost always have applied the level of intermediate scrutiny.²³ *Heller* did not explicitly embrace the right to

²² Kachalsky v. County of Westchester, 701 F.3d 81, 94-95 (2nd Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 133 S.Ct. 1806 (2013) (citations omitted).

²³ Drake v. Filko, 724 F.3d 426, 436-40 (3rd Cir. 2013) (applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold requirement of "justifiable need" to carry handgun in public); Schrader v. Holder, 704 F.3d 980, 989-91 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold prohibition on person convicted of misdemeanor from possessing a firearm); Woollard v. Gallagher, 712 F.3d 865 (4th Cir. 2013) (applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold requirement of "good and substantial reason" for a permit to carry, wear, or transport a handgun in public); Heller v. District of Columbia, 670 F.3d 1244, 1256-57 & 1261-62 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (applying intermediate scrutiny to statues requiring registration of firearms and prohibiting assault weapons); United States v. Booker, 644 F.3d 12, 25-26 (1st Cir. 2011), cert. denied, 132 S.Ct. 1538 (2012) (applying intermediate scrutiny to law prohibiting domestic violence misdemeanor offender from possessing a firearm); United States v. Chester, 628 F.3d 673, 683 (4th Cir. 2010) (same); United States v. Skoien, 614 F.3d 638, 641-42 (7th Cir. 2010), cert. denied, 131 S.Ct. 1674 (2011) (same); United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 99 (3rd Cir. 2010), cert. denied, 131 S.Ct. 958

bear arms as fundamental,²⁴ and the federal circuits have uniformly agreed that this right is not fundamental.²⁵

Under the intermediate scrutiny test, the court considers whether the regulation is substantially related to an important government objective, *i.e.*, the underlying policy objective of the statute is "important" and the statute is "substantially related" to achieving such a goal.²⁶ The government's interest in preventing

^{(2011) (}applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold statute prohibiting possession of handgun with an obliterated serial number); *United States v. Reese*, 627 F.3d 792, 802 (10th Cir. 2010), *cert. denied*, 131 S.Ct. 2476 (2011) (applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold law prohibiting possession of firearm by person subject to domestic violence protection order); *United States v. Miller*, 604 F.Supp.2d 1162, 1171-72 (W.D. Tenn. 2009) (applying intermediate scrutiny and upholding federal felon-in-possession statute).; *California v. Mitchell*, 209 Cal.App.4th 1364, 1374, 148 Cal.Rptr.3d 33 (2012), *review denied* (2013) (applying intermediate scrutiny to uphold statute prohibiting carrying concealed dirk or dagger); *but see United States v. Engstrum*, 609 F.Supp.2d 1227, 1231-35 (D. Utah 2009) (applying strict scrutiny to law prohibiting domestic violence offenders from possessing firearms).

²⁴ See United States v. Darrington, 351 F.3d 632, 635 (5th Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 1080 (2004) (judicial intent to classify an individual right as a "fundamental right" should be conveyed by explicit use of that precise constitutional terms of art).

²⁵ See, e.g., Olympic Arms v. Buckles, 301 F.3d 384, 388-89 (6th Cir. 2002); United States v. Hancock, 231 F.3d 557, 565-66 (9th Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 989 (2001); Gillespie v. Indianapolis, 185 F.3d 693, 709 (7th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1116 (2000); United States v. Toner, 728 F.2d 115, 128 (2d Cir. 1984).

²⁶ Clark v. Jeter, 486 U.S. 456, 461, 108 S.Ct. 1910, 100 L.Ed.2d 465 (1988).

crime is both legitimate and compelling.²⁷ As the court in *State v*. Spencer²⁸ noted with respect to RCW 9.41.270, which prohibits carrying a firearm or knife in a manner warranting alarm in others, "[p]eople have a strong interest in being able to use public areas without fearing for their lives."

Prohibiting the carrying of dangerous knives in public plainly serves this purpose. As the court noted in *Seattle v. Montana*:²⁹

SMC 12A.14.080 furthers a substantial public interest in safety, addressing the threat posed by knife-wielding individuals and those disposed to brawls and quarrels, through reducing the number and availability of fixed-blade knives in public places in Seattle. It addresses the reality of life in our state's largest city, where at all hours residents must step outside their homes and workplaces and mingle with numerous strangers in public places. Unfortunately, street crime involving knives is a daily risk.

Given the reality of modern urban life, Seattle has an interest in regulating fixed blade knives to promote public safety and good order. Seattle may decide fixed blade knives are more likely to be carried

United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 750-51, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 95 L.Ed.2d 697 (1987); Schall v. Martin, 467 U.S. 253, 104 S.Ct. 2403, 2410, 81 L.Ed.2d 207 (1984) ("legitimate and compelling state interest" in protecting the community from crime cannot be doubted); see also Miller, 604 F. Supp. 2d at 1171 (importance of crime prevention cannot be doubted, and it has been mentioned by courts in a variety of contexts).

²⁸ 75 Wn. App. at 124.

²⁹ 129 Wn.2d at 592 & 596.

for malevolent purposes than for self-defense, and the burden imposed on innocent people carrying fixed blade knives is far outweighed by the potential harm of other people carrying such knives concealed or unconcealed. The harm of carrying concealed knives is even more manifest.

The harm caused by knife violence has been well-documented.³⁰ The risk of a surprise attack exists even if the weapon bearer originally intends to use the weapon only for legitimate self-defense.³¹

When dangerous weapons are readily available, death or serious injury too often result. One who carries a knife, a pistol, or an ice pick may think that he will use it only in lawful self-defense. But threats, violence, and other unsettling events may occur without warning. People who are startled or upset may overreact, lose their tempers, or make poor judgments under stress. Even when they start out with good intentions, persons who carry items capable of inflicting death or great bodily injury may use them in ways and in situations that are not justified—with grave results.³²

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